
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

SHERMAN DIVISION 
 
ESI/EMPLOYEE SOLUTIONS, LP, and 
HAGAN LAW GROUP LLC; 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 
            v. 
 
CITY OF DALLAS; ERIC JOHNSON, in his 
official capacity as Mayor of the City of Dallas; 
T.C. BROADNAX, in his official capacity as 
City Manager of the City of Dallas; and 
BEVERLY DAVIS, in her official capacity as 
Director of the City of Dallas Office of Equity 
and Human Rights, 
 
            Defendants. 
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VERIFIED COMPLAINT  
FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

 
Plaintiffs ESI/Employee Solutions, LP and Hagan Law Group LLC seek relief from this 

Court against Defendants City of Dallas, Eric Johnson (in his official capacity as Mayor of the 

City of Dallas), T.C. Broadnax (in his official capacity as City Manager of the City of Dallas) 

(collectively, the “City”), and Beverly Davis (in her official capacity as Director of the City of 

Dallas Office of Equity and Human Rights).  Plaintiffs are challenging the constitutionality of the 

City’s ordinance mandating that employers provide paid sick leave to their employees (the “Paid 

Sick Leave Ordinance”),1 and in support show the Court as follows: 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

On April 24, 2019, the City of Dallas enacted the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance.  Dallas, 

                                                           
1  The text of the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance is available at 
http://www.amlegal.com/pdffiles/Dallas/31181.pdf. 
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Texas, Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code § 20-1—20-12.  Although Plaintiffs are 

headquartered in Collin County, Texas, the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance injures them because both 

have employees that work in Dallas enough to earn leave but who also work outside Dallas.  

Because the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance requires employers to allow employees to use earned leave 

at any other “facility, location, division, or job position with the same employer,” Dallas, Texas, 

Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code at § 20-5(i) the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance extends 

regulatory power outside of its city limits to violate Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights.   

The Paid Sick Leave Ordinance violates Plaintiffs’ rights arising under the United States 

Constitution, including the freedom of association, the equal protection of the law for non-

unionized employers, and the right to be free of unreasonable searches and seizures.  In this action 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment that the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance 

is unconstitutional, a preliminary injunction to halt its operation until a ruling on the merits, and a 

permanent injunction.   

Moreover, because the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance conflicts with Texas statutory law, it is 

preempted and therefore in violation of the Texas Constitution.  The Texas Minimum Wage Act 

prohibits municipalities, such as the City, from regulating the wages of employees of private 

businesses, incorporating the standards of the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act (the “FLSA”) into 

state law, but further preempting any municipal ordinances from going beyond those standards.  

Through the Texas Minimum Wage Act and the FLSA, Texas state law caps the minimum wage 

at the federal rate. In direct conflict, the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance requires that employers must 

pay minimum wage to employees for hours not actually worked.  The effect is to push their hourly 

wage above the minimum wage ceiling set by Texas law.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs ask the Court to 

accept supplemental jurisdiction over this state law claim and request a declaratory judgment that 
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the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance is preempted by Texas state law, a preliminary injunction to halt 

its operation until a ruling on the merits, and a permanent injunction.   

PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff ESI/Employee Solutions, LP is a for-profit corporation incorporated in the 

State of Texas and headquartered in the City of Plano in Collin County, Texas.  It provides 

temporary staffing in various industries, employing over 300 temporary employees within the City 

of Dallas at any given time, and will be affected by the provisions of the Paid Sick Leave 

Ordinance.  ESI/Employee Solutions, LPs has not elected to unionize and its employees working 

within the City of Dallas are not subject to a collective bargaining agreement.  ESI/Employee 

Solutions, LP maintains business records that are proprietary and confidential for which it would 

not want to disclose to the City of Dallas. 

2. Plaintiff Hagan Law Group LLC is a for-profit corporation incorporated in the State 

of Texas and based in the City of Allen in Collin County, Texas.  It provides legal counseling and 

representation to employers and executives in various industries located in Texas.  Hagan Law 

Group LLC currently employs one employee within the City of Dallas.  Hagan Law Group operates 

in the City of Dallas and will be affected by the provisions of the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance.  

Hagan Law Group LLC has not elected to unionize and its employee working within the City of 

Dallas is not subject to a collective bargaining agreement.  Hagan Law Group LLC maintains 

business records that are proprietary and confidential for which it would not want to disclose to 

the City of Dallas. 

3. Defendant City of Dallas, Texas, (the “City”) is a home rule municipality 

headquartered in Dallas County and extending into Collin County.  

4. Defendant Eric Johnson is sued in his official capacity as Mayor of the City of 
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Dallas.   

5. Defendant T.C. Broadnax is sued in his official capacity as City Manager of the 

City of Dallas.  

6. Defendant Beverly Davis is sued in her official capacity as the Director of the City 

of Dallas Office of Equity and Human Rights.  The Office of Equity and Human Rights is the City 

department charged with enforcing the Ordinance.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1331, as this action arises under the First, Fourth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution; under  28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(3), in that it is brought to redress deprivations, under 

color of state law, of rights, privileges, and immunities secured by the United States Constitution; 

under 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a)(4), in that it seeks to secure equitable relief under an Act of Congress, 

specifically 42 U.S.C. § 1983, which provides a cause of action for the protection of civil and 

constitutional rights; under 28 U.S.C. § 1367, which provides for supplemental jurisdiction over 

state law claims so related to claims in an action within original jurisdiction that they form part of 

the same case or controversy; under 28 U.S.C. § 2201, to secure declaratory relief; under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 2202 to secure preliminary and permanent injunctive relief; and under 42 U.S.C. § 1988, to award 

attorneys’ fees. 

8. Venue is proper within this judicial district and division pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(b)(2) because all the claims asserted by Plaintiffs arose within this judicial district and 

division. 
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FACTS 

The Paid Sick Leave Ordinance 

9. On April 24, 2019, the City enacted the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance, mandating that 

private employers provide paid sick leave to their employees.  Dallas, Texas, Ordinance No. 

31181; Municipal Code § 20-1-20-12.  The provisions of the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance are 

enforceable on August 1, 2019. 

10. The Paid Sick Leave Ordinance covers all employers who have employees who 

“perform[] at least 80 hours of work for pay within the City of Dallas, Texas in a year for an 

employer, including work performed through the services of a temporary or employment agency.”  

Dallas, Texas, Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code at § 20-2(5).  

11. Plaintiffs have employees who perform at least 80 hours of work for pay within the 

City of Dallas, Texas in a calendar year.  

12. The Paid Sick Leave Ordinance requires employers to “grant an employee one hour 

of earned paid sick time for every 30 hours worked for the employer in the City of Dallas;” this 

accrual begins at the commencement of employment or either August 1, 2019, for an employer 

with more than five employees, or August 1, 2021, for an employer with not more than five 

employees at any time in the preceding 12 months. whichever is later.” Dallas, Texas, Ordinance 

No. 31181; Municipal Code at § 20-4(a-b).   

13. The Paid Sick Leave Ordinance requires “[t]he employer [to] provide earned paid 

sick time in an amount equal to what the employee would have earned if the employee had worked 

the scheduled work time, exclusive of any overtime premium, tips, or commissions, but no less 

than the state minimum wage.”  Dallas, Texas, Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code at § 20-

5(a).   
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14. The Paid Sick Leave Ordinance requires that “[o]n no less than a monthly basis, an 

employer shall provide electronically or in writing to each employee a statement showing the 

amount of the employee’s available earned paid sick time,” Dallas, Texas, Ordinance No. 31181; 

Municipal Code at § 20-7(a), requiring employers to track hours worked even for employees paid 

on a salary basis and exempt from FLSA rules. 

15. This administrative requirement of the Ordinance requires Plaintiffs to incur 

additional costs in order to comply with the administrative requirements of the Ordinance.   

16. The Paid Sick Leave Ordinance requires employers to allow an  

Employee [to] request earned paid sick time . . . for an absence from the 
employee’s scheduled work time caused by: 
 
(1) The employee’s physical or mental illness, physical injury, 
preventative medical or health care, or health condition; or 
 
(2) The employee’s need to care for their family member’s physical or 
mental illness, physical injury, preventative medical or health care, or health 
condition; or 

 
(3) The employee’s or their family member’s need to seek medical 
attention, seek relocation, obtain services of a victim’s services 
organization, or participate in legal or court ordered action related to an 
incident of victimization from domestic abuse, sexual assault, or stalking 
involving the employee or the employee’s family member. 
 

Dallas, Texas, Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code at § 20-5(c).   
 
17. The Paid Sick Leave Ordinance requires employers with more than 15 employees 

at any time within the last 12 months (deemed “medium or large employers”) to provide their 

employees up to a maximum of 64 hours of paid sick leave a year and requires covered employers 

with 15 or fewer employees at any time within the last 12 months (deemed “small employers”) to 

provide their employees up to a maximum of 48 hours of paid sick leave per year.  Dallas, Texas, 

Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code at § 20-2(8, 11); id. at § 20-4(c).   
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18. The Paid Sick Leave Ordinance requires employers to “display a sign describing 

the requirements of this chapter . . .,” Dallas, Texas, Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code at § 

20-7(e), and requires “[a]n employer who provides an employee handbook to its employees must 

include a notice of [the paid sick leave obligations in the ordinance] in that handbook.”  Id. at § 

20-7(b). 

19. The Paid Sick Leave Ordinance provides that “[n]either the amount of available 

earned paid sick time nor the right to use earned paid sick time shall be affected by an employee’s 

transfer to a different facility, location, division, or job position with the same employer.”  Dallas, 

Texas, Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code at § 20-5(i).  The City by this provision requires 

employers who have employees within the City to apply the mandates of the Paid Sick Leave 

Ordinance even when those employees are later working outside the jurisdiction of the City or 

when the employer is outside the jurisdiction of the City but have employees that work within the 

City. 

20. The Paid Sick Leave Ordinance permits unionized employers operating with a 

collective bargaining agreement to “modify the yearly cap” of paid sick leave.  Dallas, Texas, 

Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code at § 20-4(e).  This essentially exempts unionized employers 

from the Ordinance by allowing them to not provide hours of paid sick leave.  

21. The Paid Sick Leave Ordinance empowers “[t]he director of the department 

implementing the ordinance] [to] issue subpoenas to compel the attendance of a witness or the 

production of materials or documents in order to obtain relevant information and testimony.”  

Dallas, Texas, Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code at § 20-10(b).  The Ordinance does not 

provide the ability for employers subject to the Ordinance to seek pre-compliance administrative 

review of the subpoena.  
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22. Employers who violate the requirements of the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance face “a 

civil fine not to exceed $500” and “[e]ach violation of a particular section or subsection of this 

chapter constitutes a separate offense.”  Dallas, Texas, Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code at 

§ 20-11(a).   

23. The Paid Sick Leave Ordinance provides for penalties if a person “refus[es] to 

appear or to produce any document or other evidence after receiving a subpoena pursuant to this 

section.”  Dallas, Texas, Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code at § 20-10(b).   

The Texas Minimum Wage Act 

24. The Texas Minimum Wage Act, with a few exceptions not relevant here, pegs the 

minimum wage in Texas to that set by the federal FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 206.  Tex. Labor Code § 

62.051.   

25. Although the FLSA on its own does not preempt any higher wages set by states or 

localities, the Texas Minimum Wage Act explicitly prevents localities from requiring private 

employers to pay above the wage set by the FLSA.  Tex. Labor Code § 62.0515 (“the minimum 

wage provided by this chapter supersedes a wage established in an ordinance, order, or charter 

provision governing wages in private employment.”); id. at § 62.151 (“This chapter and a 

municipal ordinance or charter provision governing wages in private employment, other than 

wages under a public contract, do not apply to a person covered by the Fair Labor Standards Act 

of 1938 (29 U.S.C. Section 201 et seq.)”). 

26. The FLSA and its implementing regulations require that the pay for employees be 

evaluated for compliance with the minimum wage by the work week, not by the hour, and only 

require pay for hours actually worked on behalf of the employer.  In contrast, the Paid Sick Leave 

Ordinance requires employers to track hours worked even for employees paid on a salary basis 
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and exempt from FLSA rules. 

27. A related provision in the Texas Labor Code, the Texas Payday Law, provides a 

definition for the term “wages.”  That provision is the remedy for employees owed wages by their 

employers, to use to recover that compensation, and it defines “wages” as including “compensation 

owed by an employer for . . . sick leave pay . . . owed to an employee under a written agreement 

with the employer or under a written policy of the employer.”  Tex. Labor Code § 61.001(7)(B). 

Effect of the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance on Plaintiffs 

28. Plaintiffs will be required to expend resources, including staff time, to comply with 

the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance’s mandates when it becomes effective, such as hiring additional 

staff or purchasing software to track compliance. 

29. For example, the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance will require Plaintiffs to expend 

resources, including staff time, to determine how and in complying with the Ordinance 

requirements that Plaintiffs: 

a. Track carry-over accrued sick leave time from year to year.  Dallas, Texas, 

Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code at § 20-4(d);   

b. Provide monthly statements to employees showing the amount of available 

earned sick time.  Dallas, Texas, Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code at § 20-

7(a); 

c. Amend their employee handbooks to “include a notice of employee rights 

and remedies under” the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance.  Dallas, Texas, Ordinance No. 

31181; Municipal Code at § 20-7(b); 

d. Create and display signage describing the requirements of the Paid Sick 

Leave Ordinance.  Dallas, Texas, Ordinance No. 31181; Municipal Code at § 20-
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7(e). 

30. When the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance goes into effect, Plaintiffs will be forced to 

adjust the mix of the overall compensation and the scheduling for its employees operating in the 

City, which will increase costs and decrease profits for Plaintiffs. 

31. Under current law, if an employee who normally works 40 hours a week took one 

8-hour day off sick, employers such as Plaintiffs would only be required to pay the employee at 

least the minimum wage for the hours actually worked: 32.  After the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance 

goes into effect, under the same scenario, employers such as Plaintiffs would be required to pay at 

least the minimum wage for forty hours.  This means that the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance increases 

wages for the work week beyond that required by the Texas Minimum Wage Act. 

32. If the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance goes into effect, Plaintiffs’ operations in the City 

will face a competitive disadvantage with unionized employers, because the latter have the right 

to modify the cap on paid sick leave hours mandated by the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance.  Plaintiffs 

are denied this same flexibility in determining the overall mix of compensation for its employees 

as a result of this discriminatory provision.  Because the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance directly 

regulates only employers, employers such as Plaintiffs are the only parties with standing to raise 

claims on behalf of employees who do not choose to associate with a union.  

33. If the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance goes into effect, Plaintiff ESI/Employee 

Solutions, LP will have special burdens due to the itinerant and mobile nature of its workforce.  

Keeping track of how many hours of the day each employee is working within the City, as opposed 

to nearby cities, will be an enormous undertaking.   

34. Also, Plaintiff ESI/Employee Solutions, LP will have to pay double the labor cost 

when employees use the benefits mandated by the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance because of the nature 
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of its business.  For example, consider a scenario where a business has an employee out sick, and 

asks a staffing company to provide a temporary one.  If the staffing company calls an employee to 

see if he is available to work the position for 8 hours that day, and the employee responds that he 

is ill and will now take his paid sick leave, the staffing company will have to pay him for 8 hours 

and also pay another employee for 8 hours to work the vacant position.   

35. Plaintiff ESI/Employee Solutions, LP has over 300 employees in the City, who 

make an average of $12.85 an hour.  Based on the requirements of the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance, 

Plaintiff ESI/Employee Solutions, LP estimates that leave paid out will be approximately 

$269,000.00 annually if each of its Dallas employees take the full amount of paid leave mandated 

by the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance.   

36. Plaintiff ESI/Employee Solutions, LP will also need to hire an additional employee 

to track where employees are placed, track their hours, calculate leave earned, and send the 

monthly reports required by the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance; this is estimated to cost approximately 

$60,000.00 annually in salary and benefits. 

37. Plaintiff ESI/Employee Solutions, LP will also need to change its training manuals, 

handbooks, and orientation materials, and estimates that its software company will charge $500.00 

to make changes to its application and documents.  Plaintiff ESI/Employee Solutions, LP estimates 

that it will also need to provide approximately $3,000.00 in labor to make changes to relevant 

policies, and that it would have to spend approximately $1,500.00 in staff training time and travel 

to training. 

38. The additional expense required of the mandates of the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance 

would require Plaintiff ESI/Employee Solutions, LP to rearrange the mix of pay and benefits for 

its employees.  It could have to raise rates for clients, which would likely result in lower wages 
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they would be willing to pay their temporary employees placed by ESI/Employee Solutions, LP.  

Additionally, ESI/Employee Solutions, LP currently provides paid holiday leave for its employees; 

because that is not legally required, the increased costs of a mandate to provide paid sick leave 

would likely require it to eliminate paid holiday leave. 

39. Plaintiff Hagan Law Group LLC employs one attorney who works full time 

remotely from home within the City of Dallas.  Hagan Law Group LLC and its Dallas-based 

attorney have negotiated terms and conditions of employment that provide the employee a more 

flexible schedule and mutually agreed compensation in exchange for not having other benefits like 

paid leave.  

40. In response to the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance, Plaintiff Hagan Law Group LLC 

will be required to use a different and more complex time reporting/tracking software than what it 

uses currently.  It has estimated that legal reporting/billing software allowing the tracking of work 

locations and absences, with whole day or partial days, will cost an additional $3,000.00 annually.  

The hours to train support staff and the attorneys on a new system will cost approximately 

$2,800.00.  

41. The issuance of monthly statements required by the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance 

would cost Plaintiff Hagan Law Group LLC approximately $600.00 annually. 

42. Plaintiff Hagan Law Group LLC estimates the total cost of modifying its operations 

to ensure compliance with the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance would be $6,400.00 for the first year 

and $4,000.00 for each year thereafter.  In addition, the cost of the payout for sick leave (and for 

substitute wages for of counsel needed when an employee takes leave) would amount to a 

minimum of $14,000.00 per year (plus payroll taxes) for one employee working in the City. 

43. The additional expense required of the mandates of the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance would 

require Plaintiff Hagan Law Group LLC to rearrange the mix of pay and benefits for its employees.  It could 
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delay planned wage increases or bonuses for other staff. It could have to raise rates for clients or reduce 

overall employee compensation.  It is also possible that Hagan Law Group LLC would be forced to cancel 

its $5,500.00 per year Westlaw subscription, cancel plans to replace antiquated computer equipment, and 

eliminate year-end bonuses.   

COUNT I 
VIOLATION OF THE FREEDOM OF ASSOCIATION UNDER  

THE FIRST AND THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT  
TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION  

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 
 

44. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations in the foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully 

herein. 

45. As part of their protected constitutional right of association, Plaintiffs and their 

employees have the right to not associate, i.e., to not be a unionized employer operating with a 

collective bargaining agreement. 

46. By allowing only unionized employers operating with a collective bargaining 

agreement to “modify the yearly cap” of paid sick leave, while denying this right to non-unionized 

employers, the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance creates a distinction between unionized employers and 

non-unionized employers based on the exercise of their right to associate that is not rationally 

related to any legitimate governmental interest, and fails to serve a compelling governmental 

interest sufficient to overcome strict scrutiny necessitated by the discriminatory provision’s burden 

on the freedom of association. 

47. Plaintiffs request this Court to declare that the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance violates, 

on its face, Plaintiffs’ freedom of association under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the 

United States Constitution. 
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COUNT II 
VIOLATION OF THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF 

THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT 
TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 
 

48. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations in the foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully 

herein. 

49. By allowing only unionized employers operating with a collective bargaining 

agreement to “modify the yearly cap” of paid sick leave, while denying this right to non-unionized 

employers, the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance creates a distinction between unionized employers and 

non-unionized employers that is not rationally related to any legitimate governmental interest. 

50. Because it discriminates based on the exercise of the freedom of association of 

Plaintiffs and their employees, it also fails to serve a compelling governmental interest sufficient 

to overcome strict scrutiny. 

51. Plaintiffs request the Court declare that the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance violates, on 

its face, the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution. 

COUNT III 
VIOLATION OF THE FREEDOM FROM  

UNREASONABLE SEARCHES AND SEIZURES  
UNDER THE FOURTH AND THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT 

TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION 
(42 U.S.C. § 1983) 

 
52. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations in the foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully 

herein. 

53. There is a clearly established legal right to an opportunity to obtain pre-compliance 

review of an administrative subpoena before a neutral decision maker. 

54. The Paid Sick Leave Ordinance requires employers to submit to unlimited, 
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unreasonable administrative subpoenas with no provision for judicial review before being required 

to comply. 

55. Plaintiffs request this Court to declare that the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance violates, 

on its face, the freedom from unreasonable search and seizure under the Fourth and Fourteenth 

Amendments to the United States Constitution. 

COUNT IV 
VIOLATION OF THE TEXAS MINIMUM WAGE ACT AND  

THE TEXAS CONSTITUTION 
(28 U.S.C. § 1367) 

 
56. Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations in the foregoing paragraphs as if set forth fully 

herein. 

57. The Texas Constitution prohibits municipal ordinances from conflicting with state 

law.  Tex. Const. art. XI, § 5(a). 

58. The Texas Minimum Wage Act prohibits municipalities, such as the City, from 

regulating the wages of employees of private businesses, incorporating the standards of the federal 

Fair Labor Standards Act into state law, but further preempting any municipal ordinances going 

beyond those standards. 

59. Under the FLSA, employers are only required to pay wages for hours actually 

worked; for those hours not actually worked, the minimum wage is $0.00.  But the Paid Sick Leave 

Ordinance requires employers to pay at least the current minimum wage for those hours not 

actually worked that are covered by the mandated sick leave.   

60. The FLSA and its implementing regulations require that the pay for employees be 

evaluated for compliance with the minimum wage by the work week, not by the hour or day.  

61. Under current law, if an employee who normally works 40 hours a week took one 

8-hour day off sick, the employer would only be required to pay the employee at least the minimum 
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wage for the hours actually worked: 32.  

62. After the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance goes into effect, under the same scenario, the 

employer would be required to pay at least the minimum wage for forty hours.  This means that 

the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance has the actual effect of increasing wages for the work week above 

the cap set by the Texas Minimum Wage Act.  See Tex. Ass’n of Bus. v. City of Austin, 565 S.W.3d 

425, 440 (Tex. App.—Austin 2018, pet. filed). 

63. Plaintiffs request the Court declare that the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance, on its face, 

is preempted by the Texas Minimum Wage Act, and therefore violates the Texas Constitution. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

In order to prevent imminent violation of Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights by Defendants, it 

is appropriate and proper that a declaratory judgment be issued, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2201 and 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 57, declaring unconstitutional the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance. 

Furthermore, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2202 and Fed. R. Civ. P. 65, it is appropriate and 

hereby requested that the Court issue preliminary and permanent injunctions prohibiting the City 

from enforcing the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for judgment against Defendants and that the Court: 

(1) declare that the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance is unconstitutional on its face because 

it violates the constitutional requirements of freedom of association, equal protection of the laws, 

and the right to be free of unreasonable searches and seizures guaranteed by the United States 

Constitution; 

(2) declare that the Paid Sick Leave Ordinance is unconstitutional under Texas law 

because it is preempted by the Texas Minimum Wage Act; 

(3) issue a preliminary injunction against the City and all agents, administrators, 
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employees, or other persons acting on behalf of the City, from enforcing the Paid Sick Leave 

Ordinance;  

(4) issue a permanent injunction against the City and all agents, administrators, 

employees, or other persons acting on behalf of the City, from enforcing the Paid Sick Leave 

Ordinance;  

(5) award Plaintiffs their costs and expenses incurred in bringing this action, including 

reasonable attorney fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

(6) grant such other and further relief as the Court deems equitable, just, and proper. 

      Respectfully Submitted, 
 
      /s/Robert Henneke   
      ROBERT HENNEKE 
      Texas Bar No. 24046058 
      rhenneke@texaspolicy.com 
     TEXAS PUBLIC POLICY FOUNDATION 
     Center for the American Future  

901 Congress Avenue 
Austin, TX 78701 
Telephone: (512) 472-2700 
Facsimile: (512) 472-2728 
 
Attorney for Plaintiffs ESI/Employee Solutions LP  
and Hagan Law Group LLC 

Case 4:19-cv-00570   Document 1   Filed 07/30/19   Page 17 of 19 PageID #:  17




�������	����

�=8:="4;C<5C��C!�����C BC�����C��C�">.$C��C�8.:<52�C$%#2"9%C<-%C'6225?.4,�C

� �C-">%C7%8:54"2C145?2%$,%C5&C<-%C3"<<%8:C"22%,%$C 8%,"8$.4,C�2".4<.(C���	�3725A%%
�52=</54:C��C.4C<-%C'68%,5.4,C�5372"/4<�

��  -%C"22%,"<.54:C#54<".4%$C-%8%.4C"8%C<8=%C"4$C#588%#<�

�C>%8.+C=4$%8C7%4"2<AC5&C7%80=8AC<-"<C<-%C*8%,5.4,C.:C<8=%C"4$C#588%#<�

�@%#=<%$C<-.:C��<-C$"AC5&C�=2A�C�
���C

���

����
�">.$C��C�8.:<52C
�-.%&C�@%#=<.>%C�)#%8C
���	�3725A%%C�52=<.54:C��C

Case 4:19-cv-00570   Document 1   Filed 07/30/19   Page 18 of 19 PageID #:  18




�������	����

�8458"16?62?�?!�����? >? �����?��?�2+1?��?�"*"1�?$%#/"4%?6+%?)//2;,1*�?

�� �?+":%?3%4521"/?.12;/%$*%?2&?6+%?0"66%45?"//%*%$?4%*"4$,1*?�/",16,(?�"*"1?�";?�4293
���?,1?6+%?)4%*2,1*?�203/",16�

�  +%?"//%*"6,215?#216",1%$?+%4%,1?"4%?648%?"1$?#244%#6�

�?:%4,&=?81$%4?3%1"/6=?2&?3%4-84=?6+"6?6+%?)4%*2,1*?,5? 7%?"1$?#244%#6	

�<%#86%$?6+,5?�6+?$"=?2'?�9/=�?
���?

��?

Case 4:19-cv-00570   Document 1   Filed 07/30/19   Page 19 of 19 PageID #:  19



JS 44   (Rev. 02/19) CIVIL COVER SHEET
The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law,  except as
provided by local rules of court.  This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the
purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet.   (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS DEFENDANTS

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff County of Residence of First Listed Defendant
(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES) (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF 
THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.

(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number)  Attorneys (If Known)

II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an “X” in One Box Only) III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an “X” in One Box for Plaintiff
(For Diversity Cases Only) and One Box for Defendant) 

’ 1   U.S. Government ’ 3  Federal Question PTF    DEF PTF    DEF
Plaintiff (U.S. Government Not a Party) Citizen of This State ’ 1 ’  1 Incorporated or Principal Place ’ 4 ’ 4

    of Business In This State

’ 2   U.S. Government ’ 4  Diversity Citizen of Another State ’ 2 ’  2 Incorporated and Principal Place ’ 5 ’ 5
Defendant (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III) of Business In Another State

Citizen or Subject of a ’ 3 ’  3 Foreign Nation ’ 6 ’ 6
    Foreign Country

IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Place an “X” in One Box Only) Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.
CONTRACT TORTS FORFEITURE/PENALTY BANKRUPTCY OTHER STATUTES

’ 110 Insurance      PERSONAL INJURY       PERSONAL INJURY ’ 625 Drug Related Seizure ’ 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 ’ 375 False Claims Act
’ 120 Marine ’ 310 Airplane ’ 365 Personal Injury  -   of Property 21 USC 881 ’ 423 Withdrawal ’ 376 Qui Tam (31 USC 
’ 130 Miller Act ’ 315 Airplane Product   Product Liability ’ 690 Other   28 USC 157   3729(a))
’ 140 Negotiable Instrument   Liability ’ 367 Health Care/ ’ 400 State Reapportionment
’ 150 Recovery of Overpayment ’ 320 Assault, Libel &  Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS ’ 410 Antitrust

 & Enforcement of Judgment   Slander  Personal Injury ’ 820 Copyrights ’ 430 Banks and Banking
’ 151 Medicare Act ’ 330 Federal Employers’  Product Liability ’ 830 Patent ’ 450 Commerce
’ 152 Recovery of Defaulted   Liability ’ 368 Asbestos Personal ’ 835 Patent - Abbreviated ’ 460 Deportation

 Student Loans ’ 340 Marine   Injury Product        New Drug Application ’ 470 Racketeer Influenced and
 (Excludes Veterans) ’ 345 Marine Product   Liability ’ 840 Trademark  Corrupt Organizations

’ 153 Recovery of Overpayment   Liability   PERSONAL PROPERTY LABOR SOCIAL SECURITY ’ 480 Consumer Credit
 of Veteran’s Benefits ’ 350 Motor Vehicle ’ 370 Other Fraud ’ 710 Fair Labor Standards ’ 861 HIA (1395ff) ’ 485 Telephone Consumer 

’ 160 Stockholders’ Suits ’ 355 Motor Vehicle ’ 371 Truth in Lending   Act ’ 862 Black Lung (923)   Protection Act
’ 190 Other Contract  Product Liability ’ 380 Other Personal ’ 720 Labor/Management ’ 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) ’ 490 Cable/Sat TV
’ 195 Contract Product Liability ’ 360 Other Personal  Property Damage   Relations ’ 864 SSID Title XVI ’ 850 Securities/Commodities/
’ 196 Franchise  Injury ’ 385 Property Damage ’ 740 Railway Labor Act ’ 865 RSI (405(g))   Exchange

’ 362 Personal Injury -  Product Liability ’ 751 Family and Medical ’ 890 Other Statutory Actions
 Medical Malpractice   Leave Act ’ 891 Agricultural Acts

 REAL PROPERTY    CIVIL RIGHTS   PRISONER PETITIONS ’ 790 Other Labor Litigation FEDERAL TAX SUITS ’ 893 Environmental Matters
’ 210 Land Condemnation ’ 440 Other Civil Rights Habeas Corpus: ’ 791 Employee Retirement ’ 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff ’ 895 Freedom of Information
’ 220 Foreclosure ’ 441 Voting ’ 463 Alien Detainee  Income Security Act   or Defendant)   Act
’ 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment ’ 442 Employment ’ 510 Motions to Vacate ’ 871 IRS—Third Party ’ 896 Arbitration
’ 240 Torts to Land ’ 443 Housing/  Sentence   26 USC 7609 ’ 899 Administrative Procedure
’ 245 Tort Product Liability  Accommodations ’ 530 General  Act/Review or Appeal of
’ 290 All Other Real Property ’ 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - ’ 535 Death Penalty IMMIGRATION  Agency Decision

 Employment Other: ’ 462 Naturalization Application 950 Constitutionality of
’ 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - ’ 540 Mandamus & Other ’ 465 Other Immigration   State Statutes

 Other ’ 550 Civil Rights        Actions
’ 448 Education ’ 555 Prison Condition

’ 560 Civil Detainee -
 Conditions of 
 Confinement

V. ORIGIN (Place an “X” in One Box Only)
’ 1 Original

Proceeding
’ 2 Removed from

State Court
’  3 Remanded from

Appellate Court
’ 4 Reinstated or

Reopened
’  5 Transferred from

Another District
(specify)

’  6 Multidistrict
Litigation -
Transfer

’ 8  Multidistrict
    Litigation -         
   Direct File

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION
Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity):

Brief description of cause:

VII. REQUESTED IN
COMPLAINT:

’ CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION
UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P.

DEMAND $ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:
JURY DEMAND: ’ Yes ’No

VIII. RELATED CASE(S)
IF ANY (See instructions):

JUDGE DOCKET NUMBER
DATE SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

RECEIPT # AMOUNT APPLYING IFP JUDGE MAG. JUDGE

ESI/EMPLOYEE SOLUTIONS, LP, and
HAGAN LAW GROUP LLC

CITY OF DALLAS; ERIC JOHNSON (official capacity); T.C. 
BROADNAX (official capacity); & BEVERLY DAVIS (official capacity)

Collin

Robert Henneke, Texas Public Policy Foundation
901 Congress Avenue, Austin Texas 78701
Tel: (512) 472-2700

Christopher J. Caso, Interim City Attorney

42 U.S.C. § 1983

Federal constitutional and supplemental state law chalenge to Dallas paid sick leave ordinance

0.00

7/30/2019 /s/Robert Henneke

Case 4:19-cv-00570   Document 1-1   Filed 07/30/19   Page 1 of 1 PageID #:  20


